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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
BEFORE THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION

COMMISSIONERS: Joseph J. Simons, Chairman
Noah Joshua Phillips
Rohit Chopra
Rebecca Kelly Slaughter
Christine S. Wilson

In the Matter of

Peabody Energy Corporation, Docket No. 9391
a public company;

and

Arch Coal, Inc.,
a public company.

COMPLAINT

Pursuant to the provisions of the Federal Trade Commission Act (“FTC Act”), and by the
virtue of the authority vested in it by the FTC Act, the Federal Trade Commission
(“Commission”), having reason to believe that Respondents Peabody Energy Corporation
(“Peabody”) and Arch Coal, Inc. (“Arch”) have executed an joint venture agreement (the “Joint
Venture”) in violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 45, which if

charges as follows:

1. If consummated
the sales operations of Responc
(“SPRB”). Respondents are cu
coal. They compete with one a



SPRB’s coal deposits are relatively close to the earth’s surface and therefore relatively
inexpensive to extract, and SPRB coal’s characteristics (in particular, its sulfur content) allow
electric power plants to burn significant quantities of it without violating environmental
regulations. Moreover, many power plants that burn SPRB coal can face substantial switching
costs if they attempt to switch to other coals, which could include installation of additional
pollution-control equipment.

3. In 2018, Respondents produced more than 60% of all SPRB coal mined.
Respondents
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($/mmBTU), SPRB coal is the lowest priced coal in the United States, measured
at the mine mouth. For example, the United States Energy Information
Administration (“EIA”) releases weekly information regarding the spot price of
different coals, broken down by coal region. According to the EIA, for the week
ending January 10, 2020, on a $/mmBTU basis, the spot price of Appalachian
coals was more than three times the price of Powder River Basin coal, and such
price differences have been persistent over time.

Heat content: SPRB mines yield subbituminous coal with a heat content that
typically ranges from 8400 to 8800 BTU per pound, while other varieties of coal
have different heat contents (for example, lignite coal typically produces less than
8300 BTU per pound, while bituminous and anthracite coal produce substantially
more heat per pound, at least 11,500 BTUs). Electric power generators typically
seek to purchase coal with an appropriate BTU specification in order to run their
units cost-effectively.

Low sulfur content: The sulfur content of the coal burned in coal-fired power




16. SPRB coal prices are typically determined through direct interactions between
SPRB coal producers and customers, involving a request-for-proposal (“RFP”) process in which
customers solicit bids from multiple suppliers of SPRB coal. Customers typically issue an RFP
specifying the quantity of coal that they desire to contract for and the time period in which the
coal will be delivered (often one year or two years). Based on responses to the RFP, a customer
will negotiate a supply contract with one or more suppliers. While customers can also purchase
SPRB coal by placing a bid on the Over-The-Counter (“OTC”) spot market, due to their reliance
on regular supplies of large amounts of coal for their coal-fired power plants, most customers
prefer to contract with suppliers for most of their SPRB coal purchases rather than rely
exclusively or primarily on OTC purchases. SPRB coal customers value the security of supply
provided by a contract, and OTC prices are typically higher than individually negotiated contract
prices.

17. Due to the widespread use of RFPs, SPRB coal producers typically know the
identity of customers seeking to purchase SPRB coal, and are able to customize their bids based
on a customer’s circumstances, including the location of the customer’s power plants, which
impact both the plants’ regulatory requirements and the shipping costs the customer will incur.
SPRB coal purchasers generally negotiate shipping costs directly with railroads, without the
involvement of SPRB coal producers, and greater distances typically result in greater shipping



. electricity producers often rely on coal-fired power units to run continuously to
reliably supply power despite variable conditions (such as weather, natural gas
pipeline constraints, and electricity grid congestion) that can render alternative
power sources unreliable or unavailable; and

. a small-but-significant increase in SPRB coal producers’ prices would have only a
minor impact on a power generator’s cost of producing electricity, due to the high
transportation costs of SPRB coal and other factors.

B. Relevant Geographic Market

21.  Arrelevant geographic market in which to analyze the competitive effects of this
transaction is the Southern Powder River Basin. The suppliers of SPRB coal are located within
the Southern Powder River Basin, and this is the region in which purchasers of SPRB coal can
seek alternative suppliers of SPRB coal.

22, Further, the United States is a relevant geographic market in which to analyze the
competitive effects of this transaction. SPRB coal is not sold in any significant quantities outside
the United States, and even if it were, due to high transportation costs, SPRB coal customers
could not defeat a price increase by purchasing SPRB coal outside of the United States and re-
importing it.

23.  Alternatively, relevant geographic markets could be defined based on the
locations at which SPRB coal is consumed. All or nearly all SPRB coal consumed in 2018 was
burned at fewer than 150 power plants; the majority was consumed by power plants located in
the central United States and upper Midwest, within the states of Arkansas, Illinois, Indiana,
lowa, Kansas, Louisiana, Michigan, Minnesota, Mississippi, Missouri, Nebraska, Oklahoma,
South Dakota, Texas, Wisconsin, and Wyoming. The Joint Venture would substantially lessen
competition for the sale of SPRB coal within a relevant geographic market consisting of one or
more of the locations at which SPRB coal is consumed.

VI.  MARKET CONCENTRATION AND THE JOINT VENTURE’S
PRESUMPTIVE ILLEGALITY

24.  The Joint Venture would create a single entity with a dominant share of SPRB
coal reserves, and a dominant share of sales to SPRB customers. Post-Joint Venture, the
combined entity would control more than 60% of SPRB coal reserves and approximately 60% or
more of SPRB coal production.

25. The minority of SPRB reserves and production not controlled by Peabody and
Arch are split among five producers. Two producers are vertically integrated companies that
utilize their SPRB production to supply their own captive power plants: the Dry Fork mine is
operated by the Western Fuels Association, a cooperative organization of power plant owners,
and the Wyodak mine is owned by the Black Hills Corporation, which operates an SPRB coal-
fired power plant located at the mine mouth. These mines do not meaningfully compete to
supply power plants other than the captive power plants the mines currently serve. The other
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three producers are Navajo Transitional Energy Company, LLC, Eagle Specialty Materials, LLC,
and Peter Kiewit Sons’ Inc. If the Joint Venture were consummated, none of these would
approach the scale of the Joint Venture: in 2018, Arch and Peabody collectively produced
approximately five times the SPRB coal production of the next largest producer, and collectively
controlled more than five times the SPRB coal reserves of the next largest rival.

26.  The Merger Guidelines and federal courts measure concentration using HHIs.
The HHI for a relevant market is calculated by totaling the squares of the market shares of each
producer that sells the relevant product within the relevant geographic market. The post-Joint
Venture HHI and the change in HHI (post-Joint Venture compared to pre-Joint Venture) are used
to determine whether a transaction raises significant competitive concerns. A transaction is
presumed likely to create or enhance market power — and is presumptively illegal — when the
post-transaction HHI exceeds 2,500 and the transaction increases the HHI by more than 200
points. Both of these conditions would be satisfied by the Joint Venture in any of the three
geographic markets identified above: the Southern Powder River Basin, the United States, or a
relevant geographic market consisting of one or more of the locations at which SPRB coal is
consumed. In each of these relevant geographic markets, whether market shares are measured by
SPRB coal reserves or SPRB coal production, the Joint Venture would result in HHIs over 4,500
and produce an HHI increase of at least 2,000 — far exceeding the thresholds that create a
presumption of illegality. Therefore, the Joint Venture is presumptively unlawful.

VIl. ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS
27. The



31. Moreover, Respondents’ rivals may each find it individually rational to refrain
from increasing output or otherwise competing more aggressively in response to a post-Joint
Venture price increase or output reduction. By reducing the number of producers in the market
and significantly increasing concentration, the transaction will increase rivals’ ability to predict
the overall response to a price increase or other competitive initiative, thereby affecting rivals’
competitive incentives and potentiall



B. Efficiencies

36. Respondents cannot demonstrate cognizable, transaction-specific efficiencies that
would be sufficient to rebut the strong presumption and evidence of the Joint Venture’s likely
significant anticompetitive effects.

IX. VIOLATION
Count I - Illegal Agreement

37.  The allegations of Paragraphs 1 through 36 above are incorporated by reference as
though fully set forth herein.

38.  The Joint Venture Agreement constitutes an unfair method of competition in

violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 45.

Count Il—Illegal Joint Venture

39.  The allegations of Paragraphs 1 through 36 above are incorporated by reference as
though fully set forth herein.

40.  The Joint Venture, if consummated, may substantially lessen competition in the
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amended, the Commission may order such relief against Respondents as is supported by the
record and is necessary and appropriate, including, but not limited to:

1.

If the Joint Venture is consummated, divestiture or reconstitution of all associated
and necessary assets, in a manner that restores two or more distinct and separate,
viable and independent businesses in the relevant markets, with the ability to offer
such products and services as Peabody and Arch were offering and planning to
offer prior to the Joint Venture.

A prohibition against any transaction between Peabody and Arch that combines
their businesses in the relevant markets, except as may be approved by the
Commission.

A requirement that, for a period of time, Peabody and Arch provide prior notice to
the Commission of acquisitions, mergers, consolidations, or any other
combinations of their businesses in the relevant markets with any other company
operating in the relevant markets.

A requirement to file periodic compliance reports with the Commission.

Any other relief appropriate to correct or remedy the anticompetitive effects of the
transaction or to restore Arch as a viable, independent competitor in the relevant
market.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Federal Trade Commission has caused this complaint to be
signed by its Secretary and its official seal to be hereto affixed, at Washington, D.C., this twenty-
fifth day of February 2020.

SEAL:

By the Commission, Commissioner Wilson dissenting.

April J. Tabor
Acting Secretary
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